RECEIVED

12-16-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP002358-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JENNIFER L. WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable Donald R. Zuidmulder Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STEVEN D. PHILLIPS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017964

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8748 phillipss@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the investigating officer lack reasonable suspicion to stop and frisk the defendant?

The trial court answered, "No," and denied the defendant's motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the stop and frisk.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The undersigned attorney expects the parties' briefs to adequately address the issue presented, and accordingly believes that oral argument would be only marginally beneficial to this court in deciding the appeal. Because this is a one-judge appeal, publication of the court's decision would not be warranted. Rule § 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 8, 2014, Jennifer L. Wilson pleaded guilty to two misdemeanors: possession of cocaine, a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c); and possession of drug paraphernalia, a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.357(1). (24; 56:2). That same day, Circuit Judge Donald R. Zuidmulder withheld sentence on both counts, and placed Wilson on probation for 18 months. (56:8; 30).

Pursuant to Rule § 809.30, Wilson now appeals from the judgment, contending that the trial court erred when it denied her motion to suppress the evidence obtained by the arresting officer. Wisconsin Statute § 971.31(10) permits Wilson to pursue this appeal despite her guilty pleas.

In her pre-trial motion, Wilson sought to suppress all of the evidence which Green Bay Police Officer Mallory Meves obtained as a result of what Wilson contended was an unconstitutional seizure and frisk of her person. (17). The trial court heard this motion on February 25, 2014. (53). The following is a summary of the evidence adduced at that hearing.

On October 21, 2012, at 9:39 p.m., Patrol Officer Meves was dispatched to investigate a suspicious vehicle in the city of Green Bay. (53:4-6). An anonymous caller had reported that a red pickup truck had parked on Eighth Street near an alley behind South Oakland, and that a female had alighted from the truck and walked southbound down the alley. (53:6-7, 9, 17).

Meves knew that in the past there had been frequent calls regarding drug activity in the area. (53:6). The Green Bay police had been keeping an eye on a particular house in that block which she characterized as a "drug house," at which Meves stated there had been "a lot of foot traffic, vehicle traffic, people park on the street then walk down the alley, vehicles out in front of the address at random times." (53:6-7). A resident of that house was known to have manufactured or delivered cocaine and marijuana, "and also had violent tendencies and a warrant out for his arrest." (53:15). The house in question was located at 1224 South Oakland, four houses south of where the pickup truck had parked. (53:11). The house could be accessed from the alley or from a driveway on South Oakland. (*Id.*).

Meves arrived at the scene approximately ten-tofifteen minutes after receiving the dispatch. (53:9). She immediately spotted the pickup truck described by the anonymous caller. (53:8). While another officer attempted to determine whether the truck was occupied, Meves observed a female (eventually identified as Wilson) walking northbound in the alley, in the direction of the parked truck. (53:8-10, 17-18). Meves saw no one else in the area, but did see "some activity from the house" at 1224 South Oakland. (53:11). Meves turned her spotlight on Wilson, ordered her to stop, and approached her in the alley. (53:8-10, 17-18). Wilson complied with the order. (53:10, 18). Meves conceded at the suppression hearing that at this point, Wilson was detained, as she was not free to ignore Meves' commands. (53:18).

Meves told Wilson that she was investigating a suspicious situation and that she would pat Wilson down "for officer safety, checking for weapons, needles, anything that might stab me or anything like that for my safety." (53:12). She asked Wilson if she had any items like that, and Wilson replied that she did not. (53:12-13). Meves conceded at the suppression hearing that, as she stated in her police report, the actual purpose for the pat down search was to look for "weapons and/or contraband." (53:19).

Meves held Wilson's hands as she patted down the exterior of Wilson's clothing. (53:13, 19). She recovered no weapons. (53:13). However, Meves felt "some kind of padded envelope" in the interior pocket of Wilson's pullover, something which Meves believed was "packaged funny" and "didn't feel normal." (53:13-14.). Meves asked Wilson what the object was, and Wilson replied that it was an envelope with money in it. (*Id.*). Meves asked for and received Wilson's permission to look at the object. (*Id.*). At Meves' request, Wilson removed the envelope so that Meves could "ensure there were [no] weapons and/or contraband in there." (53:14). Wilson gave the envelope to Meves, who found inside the envelope cash, some money notations, and two "pinch baggies" containing a white powder substance which

Meves believed to be cocaine. (53:13-15). A subsequent test established that the substance was indeed cocaine. (53:15).

When asked by the prosecutor at the suppression hearing why she believed "there is potentially something suspicious going on here," Meves confirmed that her belief was based on her knowledge of the area (and specifically, the residence that Wilson appeared to be coming from), and the fact that "this vehicle may be involved in suspicious activity." (53:20-21).

Meves explained at the suppression hearing why she believed it necessary to conduct the pat-down search of Wilson:

Anyone can have a weapon on them at any time. You know, I've pulled weapons off of 92-year-old men who posed no harm to me at all. So it's just a safety thing. I don't want to get stabbed with a needle. I don't want to be cut, you know, and it's just—you know, it's my routine.

(53:20). Meves denied that there was anything in particular about Wilson which justified the search, admitting that protective searches were "just my habit." (*Id.*). She did, however, confirm that she also took into account her knowledge of the area, that Wilson "appeared to be coming from a known drug house," that she was "potentially [] involved in some sort of drug activity," and that "in prior instances similar activity might involve the possession of weapons or use of weapons." (53:21). She noted, "The gentleman who did reside [at the suspected drug house] at that time did have violent tendencies and known weapons." (*Id.*).

Defense counsel argued that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion either to stop Wilson or to frisk her for weapons. (53:22-24). Ruling from the bench, the court rejected these arguments. (53:24-28; App. 101-05).

The court identified various circumstances which provided the officer with reasonable suspicion to detain and frisk Wilson. The court noted that the officer was familiar with the neighborhood, and knew that there was a drug house in the area. (53:25; App. 102). The vehicle that she was dispatched to investigate was suspiciously parked near the alley, rather than in front of a house. (53:25-26; App. 102-03). It was 9:39 p.m., and dark, and the alleyway was "in an area in which drug activity [] occurs." (53:26; App. 103).

These circumstances, said the court, enabled it to find "that the officer on the totality of the circumstances had a reasonable suspicion to believe that the party that she was engaging in was either involved in a drug transaction or maybe a party to a drug transaction." (53:27; App. 104). The court ruled that the officer's suspicion of drug activity enabled her to "exercise[] her right under Terry to—to pat the person down for weapons." (Id.). The court concluded that Wilson then consented to the removal of the envelope from her jacket, and that the contraband was in plain view in the envelope. (53:27-28; App. 104-05). The court accordingly concluded that there was no Fourth Amendment violation, and it refused to suppress the cocaine and drug paraphernalia. (*Id.*).

Wilson now renews her challenges to both the stop and the frisk. Additional facts pertinent to this issue are stated below.

ARGUMENT

The Officer Lacked Reasonable Suspicion to Stop and Frisk the Defendant, and the Fruits of Those Actions Should Therefore Have Been Suppressed.

A. Standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the rights of citizens to be free from "unreasonable searches and seizures."

As will be discussed below, it cannot be disputed that Officer Meves both seized and searched Wilson. The question in this appeal is whether the seizure and search were "unreasonable" under the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time that she took these actions.

Whether the officer's actions violated Wilson's constitutional guarantees involves an issue of constitutional fact. In resolving such issues, this court defers to the trial court's findings of historical facts, and affirms those findings unless they are clearly erroneous. This court, however, independently reviews the trial court's application of constitutional standards to those historical facts. *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶13, 299 Wis.2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182

The historical facts in this case are undisputed. It is the constitutional significance of those facts which is at issue here. B. The officer's detention of Wilson was unreasonable because she lacked reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant had engaged in a drug transaction.

Under the Fourth Amendment, an officer has "seized" a person "[o]nly when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty" of that person. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 n.16 (1968). One's liberty is restrained only if the person actually yields to either the application of physical force or the show of authority. *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626 (1991).

Here, Officer Meves shone a spotlight on Wilson as she was walking in the alley, and ordered her to stop. Wilson complied with the command. (53:8-10, 17-18). Wilson was accordingly "seized" when the officer initiated the ensuing investigation and frisk. The officer conceded as much, (53:18), and the trial court appears to have assumed that the officer had indeed seized Wilson.

Although *Terry* itself focused on the validity of a protective search conducted during the course of an investigative detention, subsequent cases have applied its principles and reasoning in determining whether the investigative detention itself was "unreasonable" under the Fourth Amendment.

"[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity 'may be afoot,' even if the officer lacks probable cause." *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989), *quoting*,

Terry, 392 U.S. at 30. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 968.24 (codifying *Terry*).

These "articulable facts" must be judged against an "objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure or the search 'warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief' that the action taken was appropriate?" *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21-22.

In applying this objective standard, a reviewing court must consider the "totality of the circumstances—the whole picture;" in other words, all of the facts and circumstances which were known to the officer at the time of the stop. *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981).

With these basic principles in mind, Wilson now turns to a discussion of the facts which were known to Officer Meves when she initiated the encounter with Wilson. What is striking about this case is that while the officer seemed to be familiar with the neighborhood in which this encounter transpired, she knew remarkably little about Wilson herself. An anonymous caller had reported that a truck had parked near the alley in question, and that a female had alighted from the vehicle and walked down the alley. However, the caller did not describe the female (or if he/she did, the record does not reflect that description, and the dispatcher did not communicate the description to Officer Meves). The officer arrived at the scene ten-to-fifteen minutes after receiving the dispatch. She encountered Wilson while the defendant was still in the alley, walking northbound, in other words, in the general direction of the parked vehicle.

It could not reasonably be assumed from these facts that Wilson was the female who had parked and alighted from the red pickup truck. Nothing other than her mere presence in the alley connected her to the vehicle, and given the lapse of time between the caller's observations and those of the officer, that fact alone is insufficient to support the inference that Wilson was the female whom the caller had seen. This was a residential neighborhood. The anonymous call was made at approximately 9:30 p.m. The alley was presumably open to the public. The officer could not reasonably discount the possibility that Wilson was a resident of the neighborhood merely strolling through the alley, as any person would have been entitled to do. Because Meves stopped Wilson while she was still in the alley, the assumption that she was "returning" to the parked vehicle is based on nothing more than pure conjecture.

Regardless, Wilson's purported connection to the pickup truck is essentially a red herring. Even if one *does* infer that Wilson actually drove the truck to this location, that fact does not by itself support suspicion of criminal activity. The parking of the truck on Eighth Street was not itself suspicious. Meves conceded that the truck was legally parked. (53:16). While the truck was not parked in front of whatever house the female suspect was apparently visiting, the record does not indicate the extent to which parking spots were available in front of all of the houses which abutted the alley. Officer Meves did, however, testify that there "were other vehicles there." (53:11).

¹ The testimony was given in response to the question, "Was there anyone else in the area at that time other than Officer Meyer and the person he was dealing with?" (53:11). Meves responded that there was "some activity from the house that they were coming from," apparently referring to the suspected "drug house." She then stated, "There were other vehicles there, but, you know, I was tending to the matter at hand." (*Id.*). It is unclear from this question and answer whether the "other vehicles" were "in the area" (as the question was phrased) or were specifically located near the house associated with drug activity.

Thus, the officer had no basis at all for assuming that Wilson—even if she were the person who had parked the pickup truck—visited the particular house associated with drug activity. The anonymous caller apparently did not mention that he/she had seen the female go to that particular residence. Meves first saw Wilson in the alley. Meves did not say how close Wilson was to this residence when she first spotted her. There were other residences which abutted the alley, as Meves testified that the suspicious house was "about four houses to the south" from where the pickup was parked. (*Id.*). These, and presumably, other houses could be accessed from either side of the alley. Nothing in the record supports the assumption that Wilson visited the particular house at 1224 South Oakland. Nor is there anything in the record to support the notion that any other house in that block, or in that neighborhood, was associated with criminal activity. Under the facts of this case, there was no articulable basis for suspecting Wilson of criminal activity unless—at a minimum—the facts support the inference she visited or was somehow otherwise connected with the house at 1224 South Oakland.

The mere fact that Wilson was walking in an area *near* a house which was known to have been the site of prior drug activity does not render her conduct sufficiently suspicious to justify an investigative detention. *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979) ("The fact that appellant was in a neighborhood frequented by drug users, standing alone, is not a basis for concluding that appellant himself was engaged in criminal conduct").

The court observed in *Brown* that "appellant's activity was no different from the activity of other pedestrians in that neighborhood." *Id.* Brown, like Wilson, was discovered in an alley. 443 U.S. at 48. If anything, Brown's conduct was

more suspicious than Wilson's, because Brown and another man, when first seen by the officers, were a few feet from each other and walking in opposite directions, leading both investigating officers to believe that "the two had been together or were about to meet until the patrol car appeared." *Id.* Here, neither the officer nor the anonymous caller claimed to have seen Wilson interacting with anyone else in the neighborhood.

Consistent with **Brown**, two Wisconsin cases have held that officers lacked reasonable suspicion to seize a suspect, despite the suspect's presence near a house at which there had been reports of criminal activity. State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 17, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305 (officer seized person observed in front of house at which officers were investigating report of loitering and drug sales); *State v. Pugh*, 2013 WI App 12, ¶¶ 2-3, 12-13, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418 (officer seized person at about 11 p.m. as he walked behind vacant apartment building, about fifty feet from a drug house the officers were investigating). It is worth noting that reasonable suspicion was deemed lacking in *Washington* even though the officers knew that Washington did not live in the area and that he had previously been arrested for narcotics sales. 284 Wis. 2d 456, ¶¶ 3, 17.

The fact that this incident occurred at about 9:30 p.m. does not render Wilson's conduct any more suspicious. *State v. Cooley*, 229 N.W.2d 755, 761 (Iowa 1975) ("9:30 p.m. is a reasonable hour to be traveling city streets"); *United States v. Blair*, 524 F.3d 740, 751 (6th Cir. 2008) (defendant stopped at 10:30 p.m., "an hour not late enough to arouse suspicion of criminal activity"). This factor, even in conjunction with the fact that there had been drug activity in the area, is insufficient to justify an investigative detention.

State v. Santos, 267 Conn. 495, 838 A.2d 981, 990-91 (2004) ("the mere presence of the defendant and his companion in a high crime area at night is not sufficiently indicative of criminal activity to justify the investigative detention"); Strange v. Commonwealth, 269 S.W.3d 847, 852 (Ky. 2008) ("presence in a high crime area at night ... is not sufficient evidence to justify an investigatory stop"); Crain v. State, 315 S.W.3d 43, 53 (Tex. Cr.App. 2010) ("walking late at night in a residential area in which burglaries occurred mostly after midnight" insufficient to justify stop).

Even if one assumes (without any evidence to support the assumption) that Wilson *visited* the house at 1224 South Oakland on the night in question (as opposed to some other house abutting the alley), that fact fails to provide an objectively reasonable basis for believing that she engaged in criminal activity. *State v. Doughty*, 170 Wash.2d 57, 239 P.3d 573, 575 (2010) ("Police may not seize a person who visits a location—even a suspected drug house—merely because the person was there at 3:20 a.m. for only two minutes"). The record is devoid of facts to suggest that Wilson actually *made contact* with anyone at the suspected drug house.

Even if she did so, mere "contact" with some unidentified person at a suspicious residence is not sufficient to support the inference of criminal activity. The record here does not reveal who currently lived at the residence,² or whether everyone who lived there was suspected of "drug activity." Even if it could be assumed (again, without any

² It is unclear from the record whether the known drug dealer to whom the officer alluded still lived at 1224 South Oakland. There was an active warrant for that person's arrest, so presumably, if the police knew they could find him at the residence, they would have executed that warrant.

evidence to support the assumption) that Wilson had some type of contact with a person known to have previously been engaged in drug activity at that residence, that fact would not provide reasonable suspicion to warrant Wilson's seizure. See, Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 62 (1968) (that suspect merely talked to a number of known narcotics addicts over a period of eight hours was insufficient to justify stop and frisk). Simply put, more information concerning the nature of Wilson's supposed "contact" with this residence and the person(s) supposedly contacted is needed for this fact to amount to reasonable suspicion.

In this regard, this court's decision in *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997), is Young was observed having a "short-term contact" with another man in a "high drug-trafficking area." 212 Wis. 2d at 420-21. Despite a trained narcotics officer's testimony that such contact could have signified a drug transaction, 212 Wis. 2d at 426-27, this court concluded that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Young based solely on this contact. 212 Wis. 2d 429-433. In doing so, the court emphasized that the officers "did not know if Young had exchanged any item with the individual or touched the individual." 212 Wis. 2d at 429. The court accordingly concluded that the conduct which the officer deemed suspicious was "conduct that large numbers of innocent citizens engage in every day for wholly innocent purposes, even in residential neighborhoods where drug trafficking occurs." 212 Wis. 2d at 429-430.

Of similar import is *State v. King*, No. 13AP1068-CR, 2014 WL 552735 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 13, 2014) (unpublished).³ The police in *King* had received "numerous pieces of intelligence" concerning drug activity at a particular parking lot, and at approximately 9:25 p.m. on the night in question, observed a vehicle with at least two occupants parked at that lot for approximately five minutes. *Id.*, ¶ 3. While they saw the car's interior light go on and off a couple of times, they were unable to observe any interactions between the occupants. *Id.*, ¶¶ 3, 19. Aside from the vehicle's location, the officers observed no other suspicious or peculiar behavior. The court held that these observations were insufficient to justify the seizure of King (the vehicle's driver), and suppressed the evidence obtained as a result of the seizure. *Id.*, at ¶¶ 19-20.

Unlike the situation in both *Young* and *King*, the record in this case does not even reflect with whom, if anyone, Wilson may have had contact. Even if one assumes that there *was* contact with *someone* at the suspected "drug house," the precise nature of such contact, in other words, whether anything was exchanged between Wilson and whichever person(s) she may have contacted, has not been established. Given this factual deficiency, it cannot reasonably be inferred from Wilson's mere presence in the area that she was engaged in drug activity.

No other facts known to Meves when she encountered Wilson in the alley provided her with an objectively reasonable basis for suspecting Wilson of criminal activity. As far as the record reveals, Wilson did not act nervously, she

³ Pursuant to Rule § 809.23(3)(b), this decision is cited for its persuasive value. As required by paragraph (c) of the rule, the decision is reprinted in the Appendix at 106-09.

obeyed the officer's commands, and she did not attempt to flee or to avoid contact with the officer in any other manner.

Given the totality of the circumstances facing Officer Meves, the facts simply do not "warrant a [person] of reasonable caution in the belief" that Wilson had just engaged in a drug transaction, or that she had engaged in any other criminal activity. Officer Meves had nothing more than an unparticularized hunch that Wilson was involved in drug activity, and such hunches do not amount to the requisite "reasonable suspicion." *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. Therefore, the officer's seizure of Wilson was unreasonable, and it violated the Fourth Amendment.

C. The officer's frisk of Wilson was unreasonable because she lacked reasonable suspicion to believe that Wilson was armed and dangerous.

The Fourth Amendment does not grant officers the *independent* right to conduct "protective searches" whenever they suspect a citizen may be armed and dangerous. As Justice Harlan stated in his concurrence in *Terry*:

[I]f the frisk is justified in order to protect the officer during an encounter with a citizen, the officer must first have constitutional grounds to insist on an encounter, to make a *forcible* stop. Any person, including a policeman, is at liberty to avoid a person he considers dangerous. If and when a policeman has a right instead to disarm such a person for his own protection, he must first have a right not to avoid him but to be in his presence.

Terry, 392 U.S. at 32 (Harlan, J., concurring) (emphasis in original).

The Supreme Court appears to have adopted this reasoning in *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 146 (1972), when it stated, "*So long as the officer is entitled to make a forcible stop*, and has reason to believe that the suspect is armed and dangerous, he may conduct a weapons search limited in scope to this protective purpose." (Emphasis added). *See*, 4 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, SEARCH AND SEIZURE, § 9.6(a) at 838-44 (5th ed. 2012).

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