## **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-26-2015**COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF CO

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP2358-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS

Jennifer L. Wilson,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

By: Carley N. Miller
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar No. 1082284
Brown County District Attorney's Office
Law Enforcement Center
300 East Walnut Street
P.O. Box 23600
Green Bay, WI 54305-3600
(920) 448-4190

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Brown County, Hon. Donald R. Zuidmulder, Circuit Judge, presiding.

###

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. Officer Meves Had Reasonable Suspicion to Stop and Frisk the Defendant.

"In *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968), the United States Supreme Court recognized the legitimacy of an investigative stop: '[A] police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in an appropriate manner approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest." *State v. Buchanan*, 178 Wis.2d 441, 445-46 (1993). Wisconsin's statutory codification "of the constitutional requirements set forth in *Terry* is found at Wis. Stat. §§ 968.24 and 968.25." *Limon*, 312 Wis. 2d at 186.

# a. Officer Meves' Temporary Detention Of The Defendant Was Reasonable.

In order to evaluate the reasonableness of Officer Meves' conduct, it is necessary to balance the governmental need to search or seize against the intrusion

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Wis. Stat. §968.24 ("After having identified himself or herself as a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime, and may demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct. Such detention and temporary questioning shall be conducted in the vicinity where the person was stopped."). Also see Wis. Stat. §968.25 ("When a law enforcement officer has stopped a person for temporary questioning pursuant to s. 968.24 and reasonably suspects that he or she or another is in danger of physical injury, the law enforcement officer may search such person for weapons or any instrument or article or substance readily capable of causing physical injury and of a sort not ordinarily carried in public places by law abiding persons. If the law enforcement officer finds such a weapon or instrument, or any other property possession of which the law enforcement officer reasonably believes may constitute the commission of a crime, or which may constitute a threat to his or her safety, the law enforcement officer may take it and keep it until the completion of the questioning, at which time the law enforcement officer shall either return it, if lawfully possessed, or arrest the person so questioned.").

upon the defendant's constitutionally protected interests. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 20-21 (citation omitted). For the investigatory stop to be valid, Officer Meves must have had reasonable suspicion, in light of her experience, that some kind of criminal activity had taken or was taking place. *Buchanan*, 178 Wis. 2d at 446 (citation omitted). "Such reasonable suspicion must be based on 'specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.' These facts must be judged against an 'objective standard...[']." *Id.* The Fourth Amendment does not require an officer who lacks probable cause to arrest "to simply shrug his shoulders and allow a crime to occur or a criminal to escape." *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 145 (1972). Rather,

Terry recognizes that it may be the essence of good police work to adopt an intermediate response. A brief stop of a suspicious individual, in order to determine his identity or to maintain the status quo momentarily while obtaining more information, may be most reasonable in light of the facts known to the officer at the time.

*Id.* at 145-46 (1972). The determination of the reasonableness of an investigatory stop "depends on the totality of the circumstances." *State v. King*, 175 Wis.2d 146, 150 (Wis. App. 1993) (citation omitted).

Under the totality of the circumstances, the investigatory stop at issue was reasonable. Officer Meves was dispatched to an area with which she is familiar, not only based on her community police procedures and neighborhood contacts, but also based on prior reports of drug activity occurring out of a specific house on the same block. She was familiar with prior calls for foot traffic, short-term traffic, and suspicious activity in the area and in the alleyway. She was aware that a particular resident from that house had a history of violence and drug distribution. She testified that she was aware, based on her experience, that drug activity often involves the use of weapons. Officer Meves testified she observed a vehicle matching the complainant's description that was not parked in a manner consistent with a normal visitor. An occupant had left the vehicle and walked up the dark alleyway at 9:39 pm in an alleyway in which drug activity occurred. The complainant had indicated it appeared a drug transaction was taking place. Officer Meves observed the defendant walking back towards the vehicle and asked her to stop and identify herself. The stop was brief and relatively non-intrusive. Based on the combination of those factors, and in light of her experience, Officer Meves had reasonable suspicion that some kind of criminal or drug-related activity had taken or was taking place, and was thus justified in making a brief, investigatory stop.

# b. Officer Meves' Protective Pat-down Of The Defendant Was Reasonable.

In addition to the governmental interest in investigating crime, there is the more pressing interest of an officer to ensure "that the person with whom he is

dealing is not armed with a weapon that could unexpectedly and fatally be used against him. Certainly it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties." Terry, 392 U.S. at 23. This more immediate interest justifies the limited intrusion on individual rights that a protective frisk entails. State v. Bridges, 319 Wis. 2d 217, 231 (Wis. App. 2009) (citations omitted). In determining whether Officer Meves acted reasonably, "due weight must be given, not to [the officer's] inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch,' but to the specific reasonable inferences which he [or she] is entitled to draw from the facts in light of his [or her] experience." Id. at 225 (citations omitted). During the investigative stop, Officer Meves was authorized to conduct a pat down to determine whether the defendant was armed because the facts underlying the investigatory stop, "taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Id. at 224 (citations omitted). The protective search of the defendant's person was reasonable because the stop itself was reasonable, and Officer Meves reasonably believed that the defendant might be armed and dangerous. Id. (citations omitted). A determination of whether an officer had reasonable suspicion to effectuate a protective search for weapons is made "on a case-by-case basis, evaluating the totality of the circumstances." State v. Kyles, 269 Wis.2d 1, 7 (2004).

Officer Meves testified she had been dispatched for the report of a possible drug transaction in an area known as a high-drug trafficking area. Her observation of the defendant walking in the alleyway towards the suspicious vehicle was consistent with the complainant's description of a potential drug transaction involving a female entering the alley. Officer Meves indicated she shone her light on the defendant, as it was dark and she wanted to ascertain what kind of safety risks existed. She also testified that she was alone in the alleyway with the defendant while Officer Meyer was with the vehicle parked on the street. With respect to her experience, Officer Meves indicated that she has "pulled weapons off of 92-year-old men" who appeared to pose no threat to her. Officer Meves indicated that she was aware that the aforementioned drug activity in the area concerned cocaine distribution and was aware that the resident at the house was a known cocaine and marijuana distributer and had violent tendencies. She also indicated that she was aware that drug activity often involves weapons. She testified that based on all of those factors, she conducted a cursory pat down for weapons or contraband to ensure her own safety. The intrusion was brief, and was limited to a pat down of the defendant's outer clothing. Officer Meves is "not required to take unnecessary risks in the performance of [her] increasingly hazardous duties." State v. Beaty, 57 Wis.2d 531, 539 (1973). Given all of these factors, Officer Meves had reasonable suspicion to believe that the defendant may have been armed and dangerous, and was justified in conducting a cursory frisk of the defendant's outer clothing.

# c. The Defendant Consented To The Retrieval And Examination Of The Envelope.

When the pat-down itself is based on reasonable suspicion, the "plain feel" or "plain touch" exception to the warrant requirement may apply, and "when an officer touches or feels an object during a pat[-]down which his or her training and experience lead the officer to believe may be contraband, the officer is justified in retrieving the item." *State v. Applewhite*, 314 Wis. 2d 179, 187 (Wis. App. 2008). Although there was no testimony that Officer Meves believed the envelope was or contained contraband, thus making the "plain feel" exception applicable, Officer Meves *did* testify to the fact that the defendant voluntarily turned over the envelope. The consent exception to the warrant requirement applies here. "A search conducted without a warrant or probable cause is, subject to a few specific exceptions, per se unreasonable under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments. One of these specific exceptions is consent." *State v. Hartwig*, 302 Wis. 2d 678, 683 (Wis. App. 2007) (internal citation omitted). The fact that the defendant had been temporarily detained makes no difference to the determination that the defendant voluntarily turned over the envelope to Officer Meves. *Id.* at 686-687.

Officer Meves testified that the defendant indicated the bulge was an envelope containing a per capita check. Officer Meves asked if she could take a look at it. The defendant indicated yes. Officer Meves asked if the defendant could take out the item to ensure there were no weapons or contraband in there. The defendant removed the envelope and turned it over to Officer Meves. Officer Meves' authority was evident by her uniform and weapon. Any "seizure" pursuant to the temporary detention was lawful, but the defendant was not immediately placed in handcuffs or otherwise confined. When Officer Meves asked about the concealed envelope, the defendant actively assisted—not just acquiesced—by taking out the envelope and turning it over to Officer Meves. Lastly, there is nothing in the record to suggest the defendant was particularly vulnerable to police intimidation. See id. at 687-688. The testimony presented to the court indicated that the defendant voluntarily turned the envelope over to Officer Meves and allowed her to look inside. Inside, Officer Meves observed 1) money notations, cash, and two baggies containing what appeared to Officer Meves to be cocaine; 2) Officer Meves had justification for being in the position from which she discovered the evidence in plain view (i.e., conducting a cursory pat down pursuant to an investigatory stop, during which the defendant provided consent for Officer Meves to search the envelope); and 3) the evidence, in and of itself, but especially in conjunction with all of the facts known to Officer Meves provided probable cause to believe that the defendant was engaged in some sort of drug activity. See Buchanan, 178 Wis.2d at 449. Because the defendant voluntarily consented to the search of the envelope, what was located inside in plain view is admissible evidence against the defendant.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the court affirm the findings of the jury and the Circuit Court.